2006

Jamis M. Johnson v. Jayson Orvis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

II. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF SUPREME COURT

The statutory provision that confers jurisdiction on the appellate court is Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-3(a); and Utah Constitution, Article VIII, Section 3.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED & STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue No. 1: The Court of Appeals did not correctly construe and apply the respective procedural burdens borne by opposing parties on summary judgment.

This issue was preserved below. (Record p. 2262, Petition for Rehearing)

The standard for review of this issue is as being a matter of law to review *de novo* for correctness.

Issue No. 2: The Court of Appeals did not correctly apply the summary judgment standard in this case.

This issue was preserved below. (Record p. 2258, Petition for Rehearing)

The standard for review of this issue is as being a matter of law to review *de novo* for correctness.

IV. CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS.

Utah Code Anno. §48-1-5, in part: “Unless the contrary intention appears, property acquired with partnership funds is partnership property.”

Utah R. Civ. Pro 56(a), (c),(d), (e):

(a) For claimant. A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move for summary judgment upon all or any part thereof.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(d) Case not fully adjudicated on motion. If on motion under this rule judgment is not rendered upon the whole case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing of the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by interrogating counsel, shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.

(e) Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required. Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but the response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against a party failing to file such a response.

Utah R. Evid. 613(b)

Extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statement of witness. Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate the witness thereon, or the interests of justice otherwise require. This provision does not apply to admissions of a party-opponent as defined in Rule 801(d)(2).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE:

The primary litigation involves the ownership by Orvis and Johnson of a partnership in a highly profitable business. Johnson learned Orvis was diverting partnership funds. When Johnson demanded an accounting, Orvis then sued for a declaratory judgment declaring he did not have a partnership with Johnson. Johnson counterclaimed for his partnership interest

and for an accounting of the partnership. This matter is before the Supreme Court on review by Writ of Certiorari of the Court of Appeals panel decision which upheld Third District Court Judge, Timothy Hanson's grant of summary judgment to Orvis declaring that Johnson is barred under the doctrine of judicial estoppel from claiming to be partner with Orvis. These rulings were based upon a portion of a statement made in a deposition taken by the SBA in a separate unrelated federal case. Johnson is alleged to have said to the SBA that he did not have any partnership interest with Orvis or in anything else. The District Court held that Johnson was "judicially estopped" from asserting a partnership with Orvis because of the SBA statement. Johnson appeals that summary judgment on the basis that the doctrine of judicial estoppel is inapplicable; that the elements were not raised nor met by Orvis in his Summary Judgment Motion; that summary judgment is precluded because of the existence of genuine material issues of fact, the failure to view the facts in a light most favorable to Appellant, and for improper weighing of credibility. The Court of Appeals determined that a movant need not allege each essential element for application of the judicial estoppel doctrine and falsely asserted that Johnson had not raised, in opposition to the summary judgment all of the elements of judicial estoppel, particularly reliance by the party (Orvis) asserting judicial estoppel and the element of acting in bad faith, and therefore had waived these elements. These issues were undisputedly raised by Johnson. The panel then weighed the parties' respective evidence and credibility, not to determine whether a dispute of material fact existed, but instead which version was more likely given extrinsic factors as to the remaining non-alleged and unwaived elements of judicial estoppel, viz. - the same party

or privity; same subject matter in the prior and current proceeding; and whether the prior SBA statement was actually inconsistent. The Court of Appeals determined that Orvis was entitled to a summary judgment without his even having suggested the presence of each element of the doctrine.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE:

8-28-2001: Plaintiff/Appellee Jayson Orvis filed a Complaint in Third District Court against Defendant/Appellant Jamis Johnson.

11-05-2001: Appellant/Defendant Johnson counterclaimed and named also as Third Party Defendants Victor Lawrence, Deon Steckling, and Sam Spendlove.

11-05-2001: DaNell Johnson, wife of Johnson, was brought in and joined as a Third Party Plaintiff and counterclaimant against Orvis and the Third Party Defendants, Lawrence, et. al.

8-30-02: Victor Lawrence and Sam Spendlove moved for summary judgment to obtain dismissal from the case which was granted by the district court, and an order was executed.

4-18-2003. DaNell Johnson was dismissed from the case without prejudice because she was not properly joined as a party.

4-02-2004: Orvis moved for Summary Judgment against Johnson.

10-20-2004: The district court granted Orvis' motion entering summary judgment by Minute Entry, and executed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and an Order prepared by Orvis's counsel, on 11-23-2004.

12-21-2004: Johnson filed a Notice of Appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals of the Order

granting the Motion for Summary Judgment.

2-18-2005: Johnson filed a Motion For Summary Disposition, to which Orvis responded which was denied by the Court of Appeal pending full briefing and oral argument.

9-9-2006: A panel of the Utah Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the summary judgment of the District Court.

10-25-2006- Johnson filed a Petition for Rehearing *En Banc* to the Utah Court of Appeals.

11-28-2006: The Utah Court of Appeals denied Johnson's Petition for Rehearing.

11-30-2006: Johnson filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Utah Supreme Court.

2-12-2007: The Utah Supreme Court granted Johnson's Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

VI. SUMMARY OF FACTS

Brief Outline of Factual and Procedural History

1. Orvis (Plaintiff below) and Johnson (and wife DaNell) have a partnership extending back to 1994 and dividing profit share on a group of credit adjustment businesses (“Orvis-Johnson partnership”).

2. The partnership is extensively documented and evidenced by written agreements, a multi year course of performance dividing profit share, financial records, and numerous witnesses. An extensive listing of the partnership documents between the Johnsons and Orvis was set out in Johnson’s Verified Memorandum in Support of Motion For Summary Disposition (Summ. Disp. Mem.). (Addendum Ex. 1, Summ. Disp. Mem., Ex. 10, page 3 and exhibits attached thereto.)

3. The Orvis-Johnson partnership businesses grew to be extremely profitable now involving millions of dollars, and with Orvis now taking an estimated monthly profit of \$800,000 personally or in excess of \$10 Million annually. (Record p. 2243)

4. Johnson asserts that Orvis first began embezzling and misappropriating partnership profit shares as early as 1997. (Record p. 2247). Discovery to date, particularly deposition testimony of Orvis’s employees, confirms this. See the deposition testimony of Will Vigil (Record p. 2285-2288); See the deposition testimony of Tommy Triplett (Record p. 855-875); and see the deposition testimony of Jade Griffen. (Record p. 877-884)

5. Johnson had an SBA judgment against him stemming from a personal guarantee on a business that failed in the late 80s. (“SBA Judgment”). (Record p. 2247) Over several

years, Johnson was deposed by the SBA in post judgment proceedings, as was Johnson's wife, DaNell Johnson, who was not a judgment debtor of the SBA. (Record p. 2249)

6. Attorney Victor Lawrence represented DaNell Johnson before the SBA (Record p. 2390) and in numerous other matters; Attorney Victor Lawrence represented Jamis Johnson before the SBA and in numerous business matters. Attorney Victor Lawrence was eventually placed as directing attorney for Lexington Law Firm (the marketing for which was done by the Orvis-Johnson partnership); and Attorney Victor Lawrence represented the Johnsons with regard to the Orvis-Johnson partnership. (Record p. 2246)

7. In July 2001, Johnson, suspecting his partner Orvis of fraud and possible embezzlement, made written demand on Orvis for an accounting and an audit. (Record p. 2256)

8. Orvis immediately consulted with attorney Victor Lawrence and together they conspired to obtain the SBA judgment using funds from the Orvis-Johnson partnership and to pay exactly the amount Johnson had been negotiating through Attorney Lawrence with the SBA to settle. Orvis purchased the SBA judgment in order to prevent Johnson from obtaining an audit and to attempt to extinguish Johnson's partnership interest and to convert Johnsons' profit share money for themselves - thus exploiting confidential information possessed by Johnson's attorney, Victor Lawrence. (Record p. 2256)

9. Within days of Johnson's demand for an accounting, in August 2001, Orvis acquired the SBA judgment in his name. Orvis used funds misappropriated from the Orvis-Johnson partnership; Orvis purchased the SBA judgment against Johnson to use offensively

to mask the preceding fraud, to attempt to extinguish the partnership and to seize profit share distribution; and upon acquiring the SBA judgment withheld and converted the profit share that had hitherto been distributed to the Johnsons. (Record p. 2256)

10. The SBA judgment was purchased with the counsel and participation of Victor Lawrence, attorney for DaNell Johnson and for Johnson, in the SBA case, and in numerous other personal matters, and in business affairs of the partnership. (Record p. 2246, Triplett Deposition; Record p. 2390)

11. These actions by Lawrence and Orvis are in breach of attorney fiduciary duty and partner fiduciary duty (Record p. 2243); the object of this conspiracy by Lawrence and Orvis was to take the profit share owed to the Johnsons, which at this date would exceed \$3 Million (based on the last six months of actual profit share) and is closer to \$5 Million based on amounts concealed and converted by Orvis; Orvis and Mr. Lawrence profited by these acts by converting Johnson's profit share and dividing it between themselves. (Record p. 2257)

12. In August 2001, after Johnson's demand for accounting, and in concert with his purchase of the SBA judgment, Orvis brought this suit in Third District Court against Johnson seeking a declaratory judgment that Johnson had no partnership with Orvis or alternatively such interest was limited to 25% of two specific businesses. Orvis claimed that all monies distributed for several years under a formula between Orvis and Johnsons, and for which Orvis had been providing accountings monthly—were actually gratuities or a "gift" from Orvis to the Johnsons. (Record p. 5)

13. Johnson counterclaimed for an accounting and for profits; DaNell Johnson was

joined as a Third Party Plaintiff, and Deon Stoeckling and Victor Lawrence and others as Third Party Defendants. (Record p. 20)

14. On March 29, 2004, Orvis moved for summary judgment. (Record p. 1949) Therein Orvis asserted that Johnson was judicially estopped from asserting a partnership interest with Orvis; this estoppel was based on Orvis' interpretation of a response by Johnson in a deposition taken by the SBA in an unrelated prior federal case between the SBA and Johnson. Orvis asserted that Johnson responded to the SBA that he did not have any partnerships. (It is the judgment in that SBA case that was purchased by Orvis.) (Record p. 1228)

15. Johnson opposed the summary judgment motion. (Record p. 2242) Johnson asserted that i) the quote was misconstrued, but was irrelevant regardless under the doctrine of judicial estoppel, and ii) the doctrine of judicial estoppel, to be operative here, requires that the prior (SBA) action and this present action be between the same parties; the prior action involved the same issues as this action; the prior action be "successfully maintained"; and that Orvis must have detrimentally relied on the statement in the SBA deposition. Johnson argued that Orvis met none of the requirements for the doctrine of judicial estoppel to be applicable in this case.

16. The court heard oral argument on August 9, 2004. (Record p. 2607)

17. In its minute entry of October 20, 2004, the Court granted summary judgment to Orvis, stating "... there was no question of mistake, Johnson testified as he did [in the prior unrelated SBA deposition] so as to avoid collection efforts from the Small Business

Administration.” [Emphasis added]; the District Court found that Johnson should be judicially estopped in this case from asserting a partnership based on the contested SBA deposition statement; and the District Court granted summary judgment to Orvis. (Record p. 2619)

18. Orvis drafted a Judgment and a Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law which were executed by the District Court on October 20, 2004. That findings of fact were entered is evidence alone of improper weighing of facts as opposed only deciding issues of law which is the only consideration for granting summary judgment. (Record p. 2623)

19. These facts do not reflect how broad ranging this assault on the Johnson by Orvis is. The following are documented in other of the numerous cases Orvis has filed against the Johnsons: Orvis has boasted that he would take Johnson’s profit share money and would use it to overwhelm him with litigation. (Record p. 2334) Orvis has sued Johnson in five cases, four of which are currently pending. They are cases before Judge Bruce Jenkins in federal court, before Judge Medley in Third District Court, this action here originally before Judge Hanson, and before Judge McCleve in Third District Court—and this last suit now filed seeking to take the Johnson home based on the SBA judgment he acquired. Orvis sent Johnson mocking documents telling Johnson he has lost everything. (Record p. 2507) Orvis has hired private investigators to surveil Johnson, and even his minor children, photographing his home (Medley case #20041040); Lawrence has been seeking other judgments against Johnson for himself and Orvis; Orvis is fraudulently transferring all profit share funds he is receiving, in anticipation of these lawsuits, as Johnsons have been informed

by Orvis contacts; Orvis used a sham dissolved LLC to conceal his identity when he sought judgments against Johnson (Record p. 2256); Orvis is operating Lexington law firm as his alter ego, and has been sued now, with Lawrence, in federal court in Connecticut (Record p. 2634), in a class action, etc. The appeal before the Utah Supreme Court is the only recourse that can be unaffected by the financial club wielded by Orvis.

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals upheld the Third District Court's grant of summary judgment for Orvis upon clearly erroneous and factually unsupported bases. The opinion claimed to disavow a burden shifting concept adopted from Federal law, to wit, that once a proponent of a motion has established a prima facie case of undisputed facts entitling it to summary judgement that a burden shifts to the opponent to establish there are genuine disputes of material facts which preclude judgment as a matter of law; but then the Court of Appeals panel majority nonetheless adopted that very standard. Johnson argues a burden shifting notion is misplaced because there may very well never be any burden upon an opponent of a summary judgment if a movant is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law or has not alleged evidence supporting each element of a legal claim, as exists herein. The reluctantly concurring Court of Appeals opinion of Judge Russell Bench indicates this burden shifting notion seems to allocate burdens of proof which are required with respect to conflicts of evidence at trial. The issue on a summary judgement is simply whether or not a genuine dispute of material fact exists, not which party's evidence is more credible or persuasive. Issues of fact and weight of evidence or credibility are issues to be determined by the trier

of fact, not by summary adjudication. It is impermissible in determining a motion for summary judgment to indulge inferences and speculation adverse to the party opposing summary judgment or to weigh evidence and credibility as did the Third District Court and Court of Appeals herein.

The Court of Appeals first simply disregarded that Orvis in his Summary Judgment Motion had not even met the burden, under the Court's own burden shifting standard, to establish a prima facie case after which and only after which, could Johnson then be required to provide rebuttal. Orvis in his Motion simply failed to plead or offer any evidence supporting several essential elements of the doctrine of judicial estoppel. Indeed Orvis argued on appeal that the omitted elements were not actually required elements of judicial estoppel. The Court of Appeals in a factual and legal error incorrectly claimed that Johnson had waived these elements by not raising them below. This 'waiver' claim is wholly refuted by the record, but their opinion stands for a proposition that a party can obtain a summary judgment as a matter of law with less than all of the elements of a legal doctrine alleged or existing -- a clearly erroneous proposition.

The Court of Appeals resolved the dispute between the parties as to what are the required elements for application of the doctrine of judicial estoppel by listing the essential elements in Utah of judicial estoppel, but then, while ignoring that the Orvis Motion had failed to either plead or argue those essential elements, the Court of Appeals proceeded to ignore two elements – reliance and bad faith – altogether as having been “waived” by Johnson, and then grossly misapplied the other remaining elements to the undisputed and

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