2006

Jayson Orvis v. Jamis M. Johnson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

B. Johnson Failed To Show A Genuine Issue As To Whether Orvis Is The Privy Of The SBA.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Johnson failed to create a genuine issue of material fact for trial as to whether Orvis is the privy of the SBA because the

¹⁹Although the questioning did not involve property interests, Johnson did mention having “flipped” real estate in Park City in answering a question about whether all the income he generated came from legal work. [R at 2415:8–11.]

undisputed evidence shows that Orvis purchased and was assigned the SBA's judgment against Johnson. Invocation of judicial estoppel requires that the prior and subsequent judicial proceedings involve the same parties or their privies. Tracy Loan & Trust Co. v. Openshaw Investment Co., 132 P.2d 388, 390. Under Utah law, "as applied to judgments or decrees of the court, privity means one whose interest has been legally represented at the time." Searle Brothers v. Searle, 588 P.2d 689, 691 (Utah 1978). It is undisputed in this case that Orvis purchased, was assigned, and owns the SBA judgment. [R. 2513, Addendum Exh. 3.] Johnson admitted as much in the affidavit he submitted in support of his opposition to Orvis' summary judgment motion. [R. 2281, ¶ 60, Addendum Exh. 4.] Orvis is, therefore, the SBA's privy. As the SBA's privy, judicial estoppel is properly invoked to bar Johnson from taking a position in this action contrary his sworn testimony in the SBA proceedings in which the SBA was a party.

Johnson does not identify any genuine issues of material fact for trial as to whether Orvis is the SBA's privy. Johnson's only argument to this Court is that the judgment was purchased with misappropriated partnership funds and in violations of fiduciary duties. [Pet'r Br. 35-39.] But, as the Court of Appeals correctly held, Johnson has failed to present any proof of his conclusory contention.²⁰ Such unsupported

²⁰Johnson does not present any evidence of misappropriation by Orvis. Johnson's citation to and reliance on the deposition of Tommy Triplett [R. 855-57] and Jade Griffin [R. 877-84] is completely irrelevant. In fact, in September 2002, Judge Hanson struck those depositions from the record and prohibited any reference to them because of "irregularities in how the depositions were conducted." [R. 1439-42.] Additionally, Will

allegations cannot create a genuine issue sufficient to avoid summary judgment. See Dairy Products, 2000 UT 81, ¶ 54. Indeed, the only evidence relevant to this issue is the document assigning the SBA judgment which, even viewed in the light most favorable to Johnson, undisputedly assigns the SBA judgment to Orvis. [R. 2513, Addendum Exh. 2.]

Consequently, Johnson failed to meet his burden and summary judgment was correctly entered against him.

C. There Is No Genuine Issue As To Whether This Case Involves The Same Subject Matter As The Post-Judgment SBA Proceeding.

Because Johnson failed to present proof of a genuine issue for trial as to whether this case and the supplemental proceedings conducted by the SBA involved the same subject matter, the Court of Appeals correctly upheld summary judgment in Orvis' favor.

It is undisputed that the purpose of the SBA supplemental proceeding was to identify Johnson's assets, including any interest he may have in any partnerships, upon which the SBA could execute to satisfy its judgment against Johnson. This is the precise reason Johnson's deposition was taken and that is why the questions at his deposition were directed at identifying assets in which he might have an interest. Indeed, Judge Hanson characterized those proceedings as being "for collection purposes." [R. 2627, ¶ 5, Addendum Exh. 7.] The subject matter of this action is likewise undisputed; this is an

Vigil's deposition [R. 2585–88] simply does not provide any evidentiary support for Johnson's contention.

action to determine whether Johnson has, as one of his assets, a partnership interest in Orvis' businesses. [R. 1-14, 20-39, 2624; Pet'r Br. viii.]

There is simply no genuine dispute, therefore, as to the fact that both the SBA proceeding and this case involve the exact same subject matter of an alleged partnership between Orvis and Johnson. As a result, judicial estoppel should be applied to prevent Johnson from denying, truthfully, the existence of a partnership in the prior proceeding and then asserting the existence of a partnership to the court in this action.

Although the subject matters of the two proceedings are the same, Johnson constructs an argument asserting the actions do not involve the same subject matters by claiming that the SBA action concerned only issues of contract and foreclosure and not the alleged Johnson-Orvis partnership because only those issues of contract and foreclosure were "actually litigated." [See Pet'r Br. 39-40.] That argument misses the point.

First, the relevant prior judicial proceeding is the SBA post-judgment proceeding, in which Johnson testified under oath that he did not have any interest in any partnership; the relevant proceeding is not the pre-judgment SBA action where contract and foreclosure issues were resolved. It is undisputed that the post-judgment proceeding involved the subject of Johnson's interest in any partnerships.

Second, the application of judicial estoppel is not limited to issues "actually litigated." In fact, the statement that estoppel only applies to "issues actually litigated" in

Masters v. Worsley, 777 P.2d 499 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), upon which Johnson bases his argument, is irrelevant because it was not made in the context of judicial estoppel. See id at 504. Although Masters speaks in terms of judicial estoppel, Masters actually involved the distinct doctrine of collateral estoppel. The Masters court's holding was based upon this Court's statement in Richards v. Hodson, 485 P.2d 1044 (1971) that collateral estoppel -- not judicial estoppel -- "applies only to issues actually litigated and not those that could have been determined." Id. at 1046 (applying collateral estoppel to issue actually litigated). Johnson cites no authority in which judicial estoppel is not applied to a prior statement -- as opposed to a prior adjudication -- because that statement was not "actually litigated." Johnson has confused the doctrine of collateral estoppel, which requires actual litigation, with the doctrine of judicial estoppel, which does not and his argument regarding "issues actually litigated," therefore, misses the mark. See Richards, 485 P.2d at 1046 (noting collateral estoppel requires issues to have been actually litigated); Tracy Loan, 132 P.2d at 390 (listing judicial estoppel elements and not including actually litigated); In re Adoption of S.A.J., 838 A.2d 616, 636 n.4 (Pa. 2003) (noting confusion between collateral estoppel, requiring actually litigated, with judicial estoppel which does not).

Johnson provides no competent evidence to show a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the SBA post-judgment proceeding and this case involve the same subject matter of whether Johnson has a partnership interest in Orvis' businesses. Summary

judgment in Orvis' favor therefore was correctly granted and affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

D. Johnson Has Failed To Present Proof Creating A Genuine Issue For Trial On The “Successfully Maintained” Element of Judicial Estoppel Because It Is Undisputed That The SBA Did Not Collect Its Judgment From Johnson.

The Court of Appeals was correct in holding that Johnson failed to present a genuine issue of material fact as to whether he successfully maintained his position in the SBA proceeding that he did not have any interest in any partnerships. Although judicial estoppel requires the position asserted in the prior proceeding to have been “successfully maintained,” Tracy Loan, 132 P.2d at 390, it is undeniable in this case that, as a result, of Johnson's sworn testimony that he had no assets -- including any partnership interests -- the SBA was unable to collect on its judgment and, consequently, sold the judgment to Orvis at an extreme discount.²¹ [R. 2271, ¶ 25; 2280, ¶ 52; 2282, ¶ 60; 2381, 2513, Addendum Exh. 3; 2627, ¶¶ 4–7, Addendum Exh. 8.] Johnson presents no contrary

²¹Johnson's statement that it is “false” to assume that the SBA did not collect on its judgment has no actual basis in the record and the citation he provides does not support that statement. [See Pet'r Br. 40, 41 & n.10.] First, selling a judgment does not equate to collecting it. Indeed, to date, even with the judgment in Orvis' hands, Orvis has not been able to collect it. Second, Johnson cites merely to the affidavit that Johnson submitted to oppose Orvis' summary judgment motion, where Johnson states that the SBA judgment was purchased “at precisely the discount that Johnson was discussing with the SBA.” [See id.; R. 2282, ¶ 58.] That statement simply has no bearing on whether he successfully maintained his sworn position of not having any interest in any partnership and certainly does not establish that the SBA collected its full judgment from Johnson. Moreover, the SBA judgment was sold at a significant discount.

evidence. There is no doubt, therefore, that Johnson successfully maintained and prevailed upon his position in the prior SBA proceeding that he owned no partnership interest.

Further, Johnson's argument that there is a genuine dispute of fact as to whether the statement was "successfully maintained" because the statement was not "actually litigated" is without merit. [Pet'r Br. 41-42.] Once again Johnson bases this argument on Masters v. Worsley, 777 P.2d 499, and once again his argument is unpersuasive. As discussed above in Part II.C, the application of judicial estoppel does not require the statement to have been actually litigated; Masters' statement that estoppel only applies to issues actually litigated was made in the separate context of collateral estoppel and is, therefore, irrelevant. See id. [See *supra* p. 37-38.] Johnson cites no other authority to support his contention that the successfully maintained element of judicial estoppel is limited to statements actually litigated. In fact, the element is not so limited under Utah law. See, e.g., Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Sav. Bank v. Mehr, 791 P.2d 217, 220 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (applying judicial estoppel to prevent Occidental from taking position in subsequent judicial proceeding that a trustee's sale was invalid due to a procedural error when it previously asserted an inconsistent position in a non-judicial proceeding).

In the absence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Johnson successfully maintained his position of owning no partnership interest in the SBA proceeding, the Court of Appeals correctly upheld summary judgment in Orvis' favor.

E. Johnson Did Not Argue, And Failed To Preserve As An Issue For Appeal, Whether Additional Elements of “Reliance” And “Bad Faith/Mistake” Are Required To Apply Judicial Estoppel.

Because Johnson presented the district court with no argument that reliance and bad faith/mistake were required elements of judicial estoppel or that genuine issues of material fact existed regarding them, there is no question that the Court of Appeals correctly held Johnson failed to preserve and, therefore, waived any argument as to these elements for appellate review. Under Utah law, to assert an issue as a basis for reversal on appeal, that issue must have been preserved in the lower court in “such a way that the trial court ha[d] the opportunity to rule on that issue.” Brookside Mobile Home Park v. Peebles, 2002 UT 48, ¶14, 48 P.3d 968. “This rule exists to give the trial court an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate correct it” and to “prevent[] a party from avoiding the issue at trial for strategic reasons only to raise the issue on appeal if the strategy fails.” Tschaggeny v. Milbank Ins. Co., 2007 UT 37, ¶ 20, ___ P.3d ___ (quoting State v. Cram, 2002 UT 74, ¶ 10, 10 P.3d 346).

Johnson’s papers in opposition to Orvis’ summary judgment motion challenged only the judicial estoppel elements of privity, same subject matter, and “successfully maintained.” [R. 2242–2515, 2608–18.] Johnson did not argue there were genuine disputes for trial as to any other element of judicial estoppel or that reliance and bad faith/mistake were additional elements that must be established. [See id.] As a result,

under settled Utah law, Johnson failed to preserve any argument on these elements as grounds for review. See Brookside, 2002 UT 48, ¶ 14.

Johnson's argument to this Court provides no other reasonable conclusion. Johnson provides no legitimate proof that he argued the reliance and bad faith/mistake elements below in a manner in which Judge Hanson could have considered and ruled upon them. [See Pet'r Br. 30-35, 42-44.] Johnson's contention that the issue of reliance was preserved merely because at oral argument his counsel suggested to the court that there had been no reliance by Orvis on the sworn statement is without merit; [See id. at 32] Johnson did not argue that the SBA did not rely upon his statement. To the contrary, the record established as an undisputed fact that the SBA (Orvis' privy) did rely on the sworn statement because it did not execute upon Johnson's alleged partnership interest. Johnson's papers on the summary judgment motion did not mention reliance at all, did not assert an absence of reliance by Orvis or the SBA, and there is no question Johnson failed to preserve for appellate review any argument regarding reliance.

Likewise, Johnson has presented nothing in this case showing he actually argued a bad faith/mistake element to the district court. [See id. at 42-44.] Even if Johnson had preserved an argument on a bad faith/mistake element, the evidence undisputedly showed that Johnson answered "[n]o" to the SBA's unambiguous question about whether he "had any interest in any partnerships." [R. 2424:18-23, Addendum Exh. 2.] Johnson never asked to have the question clarified, and he never changed his testimony either

during the deposition or after his testimony was transcribed. To the contrary, in his affidavit opposing summary judgment, Johnson unequivocally stated that his testimony before the SBA was accurate. [R. 2274, ¶ 39, Addendum Exh. 4.] Johnson's self-serving statements now that his sworn testimony was a mistake because he misconstrued the SBA's question to be only about real estate partnerships is unavailing. Such unsupported bald allegations are insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact for trial. [*See supra* p. 35.]²²

The bottom line is that Johnson raised no argument relative to the elements of reliance or bad faith/mistake before the district court, and, therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Johnson waived any argument relative to those issues on appeal.

F. Johnson's "Public Policy" and "Partnership Accounting" Arguments Are Made For The First Time To This Court And Cannot Provide A Basis To Reverse The Court Of Appeals' Holding.

The Court should reject Johnson's attempt to obtain reversal by arguing the application of judicial estoppel in this case would violate public policy, and that an accounting of the alleged Orvis-Johnson partnership should be ordered, because those arguments were never made to the Court of Appeals and, indeed, are asserted for the first

²²Johnson's argument that Judge Hanson's finding of "no mistake" constitutes an improper weighing of evidence [Pet'r Br. 44.] is irrelevant because on review pursuant to a writ of certiorari, this Court reviews the decision by the Court of Appeals, not the ruling of the district Court. *See Coulter & Smith*, 966 P.2d 852 at 856.

time ever. [See generally Br. of Appellant, (Case No. 20041122-CA (on file with Appellate Court Clerk's Office)).] Johnson does not even attempt to contend with this fact. [See Pet'r Br. 45-46.] This Court's review on a writ of certiorari is limited to reviewing conclusions actually made by the Court of Appeals as well as issues and arguments actually found in the record. See Coulter & Smith, Ltd. v. Russell, 966 P.2d 852, 855-56 (Utah 1998); Ogden City Corp. v. Indus.Comm'n, 92 Utah 423, 423, 69 P.2d 261 (1937) (declining, on petition for writ of certiorari, to consider argument not part of record). Issues must not be raised for the first time in this Court unless exceptional circumstances or plain error is shown. See Timm v. Dewsnup, 2003 UT 47, ¶¶ 38-39, 86 P.3d 699. Johnson presents this Court with no exceptional circumstance or plain error relative to these two issues. [see generally Pet'r Br. 44-46] and this Court should therefore disregard them.

In addition to Johnson's lack of preservation, Johnson's arguments are wholly without merit. Johnson's argument that applying judicial estoppel in this case would violate public policy by preventing the truth of his alleged partnership interest from ultimately prevailing, [see Pet'r Br. 45] ignores that Johnson swore he did not have any partnership interest, under oath, while he was a lawyer, and that he reaffirmed the accuracy of that testimony in this case. Indeed, when the SBA could not collect its judgment based on Johnson's truthful testimony that he did not own any partnership

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